IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR.

V.

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. 86,271 SID WHITE W/25

JUN 3 1996

CLERK, SUPPLEMENT COURT

By

Cheef Dopuly Mark

ROBERT PAUL JORDAN, II

Respondent.

On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Disciplinary Proceeding.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PATRICIA S. ETKIN Counsel for Respondent The Florida Bar No. 290742 WEISS & ETKIN 8181 West Broward Boulevard, Suite 262 Plantation, Florida 33324 (954) 424-9272

INTRODUCTION

In this brief, Robert Paul Jordan is referred to as either "Respondent" or "Jordan"; The Florida Bar will be referred to as either the "Complainant" or "the Bar"; Lawrence Flowers, Sr., will be referred to as "Flowers"; Jacob Flowers will be referred to as "Mr. Flowers"; Isabelle Flowers will be referred to as "Mrs. Flowers"; Jere F. Spearman will be referred to as "Spearman" and the Report of Referee pertaining to Supreme Court Case No. 85,109 will be referred to as "non-final report".

Abbreviations utilized in this brief are as follows:

"TR" refers to the Transcript of Proceedings before the Referee.

"RR" refers to the Report of Referee.

"FS" refers to the Factual Stipulation introduced into evidence in the proceedings before the Referee.

"EX" refers to Complainant's Exhibits introduced into evidence in the proceedings before the Referee.

"R.EX" refers to Respondent's Exhibits introduced into evidence in the proceedings before the Referee.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This disciplinary proceeding commenced in August 1995 with the filing of a Complaint against Respondent alleging a violation of Rules 4-1.1 (competence), 4-1.3 (diligence), 4-1.4 (communication), 4-3.2 (expediting litigation) and 4-8.4(g) (failing to respond, in writing, to inquiry by disciplinary agency) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

A Referee was appointed by order dated August 28, 1995.

The final hearing before the Referee was held on December 5, 1995. The Florida Bar filed a Joint Stipulation of Facts executed by both Bar Counsel and Respondent (EX 1) at the commencement of the final hearing. In addition, testimony and evidence pertaining to the allegations set forth in the Bar's complaint were presented to the Referee.

At the conclusion of the Bar's case in chief and prior to the entry of findings of guilt as to the violations charged, the Referee was presented with evidence and argument relating to discipline (TR 110-137) which specifically included a "non-final" report of referee in an unrelated disciplinary proceeding which is currently on appeal (EX 42). This non-final report was admitted into evidence over Respondent's objections (TR 115).

At final hearing, Bar Counsel recommended a ninety-one (91) day suspension with proof of rehabilitation and payment of costs (TR 124). Respondent agreed that a suspension was "probably" appropriate and suggested a ten (10) day suspension (TR134).

The Referee filed a Report of Referee dated January 24, 1996 rejecting the disciplinary sanctions recommended by both Bar Counsel and Respondent at final hearing and, instead, recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for

one (1) year, that he be required to pay costs, that he be required to show rehabilitation before being "readmitted" and "if and when he is remitted [sic] that he be required to practice under another attorney's supervision" (RR5).

The Report of Referee was considered and approved by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its meeting held March 1996.

Respondent has petitioned for review of the Referee's findings of fact and recommendations as to discipline.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Flowers, a criminal defendant who was incarcerated, filed a motion on his own behalf for post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 (FS 2, RR 2). An evidentiary hearing on the motion was scheduled for July 3, 1991 (EX 24).

Flowers' parents, Mr. and Mrs. Flowers, retained Respondent on or about June 25, 1991 to represent Flowers at the evidentiary hearing. Respondent received \$1,500 to undertake the representation. (FS 2, RR 2).

On June 28, 1991, Respondent served a Motion to Continue the post-conviction hearing scheduled for July 3, 1991 (EX 25) together with an Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (EX 26).

Respondent met with Flowers at the Indian County Jail on or about July 1, 1991 at which time he received from Flowers the appellate brief and answer brief pertaining to the appeal of Flower's criminal conviction (EX 8, TR 88).

On two occasions thereafter the evidentiary hearing was postponed: in one instance, Flower's former counsel failed to appear as a witness at the hearing; in the other Flowers was not transported to appear at the hearing (TR 79).

A post-conviction evidentiary hearing was eventually held on October 23, 1991. Respondent appeared at the hearing on behalf of Flowers (R.EX 1, TR 79). The motion for post-conviction relief was denied (R.EX 1 at 31, 32). The court issued an order dated October 29, 1991, denying the motion for post-conviction relief (EX 27). Respondent did not receive a copy of this order (TR 79); the cover page of the transcript of the evidentiary hearing inaccurately reflects Respondent's appearance on behalf of Flowers as a Public Defender (R.EX 1, EX 12 at 10).

On November 19, 1991, Respondent forwarded a Notice of Appeal of the denial of the motion for post conviction relief (EX 28, 29, R.EX 4). Respondent undertook the filing of the notice without having received the order for the sole purpose of preserving Flowers' right to appeal (TR 92, 93).

On August 27, 1992, the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued an order to show cause why the appeal should not be dismissed (EX 30). Respondent filed a Response to the rule to show cause which reflected that a Notice of Appeal was filed on behalf of Flowers "in an abundance of caution", that no order denying the motion was issued and requested that the lower court enter an order setting forth the reasons for denial of the motion so that Flowers can prosecute the appeal (EX 31). The appellate court issued an order abating the proceedings and relinquishing jurisdiction for 30 days with a directive that the lower court issue final written order (EX 32).

In anticipation of receiving an order from the lower court, October 2, 1992, Respondent forwarded a letter to Mr. and Mrs. Flowers which indicated that a new contract for an appeal would be necessary (EX 17). Respondent undertook action to pursue the appeal without requiring a new contract (TR 32, 33).

On or about November 9, 1992, a Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Lack of Prosecution was filed on behalf of the State (EX 34). Respondent filed a Response to the State's Motion to Dismiss (EX 35). The motion to dismiss was denied pursuant to court order dated December 15, 1992. Appellant was afforded thirty (30) days to file a brief. (EX 36).

By letter to the Flowers dated November 18, 1992, Respondent's secretary requested \$112.50 as cost for the transcript of the evidentiary hearing which was

necessary for the appeal (EX 18). Mrs. Flowers delivered the funds to Respondent (TR 33) and thereafter a transcript was prepared (R.EX 1). Although Respondent prepared a brief for filing with the court, he apparently neglected to file it and the unsigned copy remained in his file (EX 12 at 44, TR 64, 68).

On April 29, 1993, the appellate court issued an order to show cause why the appeal should not be dismissed (EX 37). Respondent did not respond and the appeal was dismissed (EX 38). Respondent testified that he was unaware of orders of the appellate court until after the appeal was dismissed (TR 80, 97, 99). The orders which Respondent does not recall receiving include the December 15, 1992 and April 29, 1993 order (TR 97,98).

At the time that Respondent learned of the dismissal of the appeal, Flowers was represented by new counsel (TR 80, 99, 100) and therefore Respondent did not advise him that the appeal had been dismissed (TR 103). Flowers learned that his appeal had been dismissed in August 1993, after contacting the appellate court (FS 14, RR3). The appellate efforts which were subsequently undertaken by other counsel on behalf of Flowers were unsuccessful (R.EX 2, TR 80).

During the course of the representation, Respondent communicated with Flowers through his family members, principally his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Flowers (R.EX 3 at 3) and sometimes through his sister (EX 18, TR 49). Respondent testified that the majority of his communication with Mr. and Mrs. Flowers was by telephone and that there were numerous calls (TR 72).

Notwithstanding the Bar's allegation of a lack of communication, Mrs. Flowers acknowledged in her testimony that she discussed amending the petition [motion for post-

conviction relief] with Respondent at his office (TR 42). She further confirmed that she attended the hearing on the motion (TR 42), appeared for a hearing when her son had not been transported (TR 42-43), was advised by Respondent that he had filed a Notice of Appeal on behalf of her son (TR 45) and explained the problem (TR 46).

Spearman, Flower's sister, testified that she was present when Respondent discussed amending the petition [motion for post-conviction relief] (TR 54), that she attended the hearing on the motion (TR 55), that she was in Respondent's office three to four times with her parents, but was not there every time they went (TR 59).

Respondent was requested by Mr. Flowers to visit Flowers in jail (TR 24, 26).

Mr. Flowers acknowledged that Respondent visited Flowers in jail on one occasion (TR 24).

Respondent was requested to return to Flowers the appellate briefs which Flowers gave to Respondent during his visit with him at the jail (TR 88, 25,38,41). Respondent advised Mrs. Flowers that he or his secretary would send the documents. (TR 60). Respondent testified that the items in question were returned to Flowers where he was incarcerated but were not sent by certified mail (TR 63). Respondent does not dispute that the items were not resent to Mr. and Mrs. Flowers but explains that he had directed his secretary to send them (TR 85, 89-91). Respondent directed his secretary to make copies to keep and send the originals; the copies which were retained are in Respondent's file (TR 89).

Respondent did not respond to the initial inquiries from The Florida Bar, specifically letters sent in August and September 1994 (RR 4). Respondent did, however, respond to the inquiry of the grievance committee. The Bar acknowledged subsequent

cooperation by Respondent (TR 124). Notwithstanding Respondent's response to and cooperation with the Grievance Committee, Respondent admitted that his actions in not responding to the Bar's initial inquiry constitutes a violation of Rule 4-8.4(g), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (TR 75).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Significant procedural improprieties occurred during the course of the final hearing which resulted in the Referee's consideration of prejudicial, inadmissible and improper evidence as a basis for findings and recommendations.

These improprieties include a failure to bifurcate the final hearing as originally suggested by the Bar and a procedure which specifically permitted consideration of evidence and argument as to discipline **prior** to findings of guilt. As a result, the Referee issued findings relating to aggravating factors and recommendations as to discipline which were clearly disproportionate to the misconduct charged.

In addition, the Referee considered a referee's report, currently on appeal, in an unrelated disciplinary proceeding and improperly included the proposed disciplinary sanction set forth therein as prior discipline and an aggravating factor. This non-final report should not have been presented to or considered by the Referee for any purpose.

Finally, the disciplinary sanction recommended by the Referee is clearly excessive, notwithstanding any aggravating factor which may properly be considered.

The errors which occurred rendered the disciplinary proceedings fundamentally unfair and warrant dismissal. Alternatively, the Referee' recommendation for a one-year suspension followed by probation for an indefinite period of time should be rejected. In lieu thereof this Court should approve as a disciplinary sanction a suspension for a period of ten (10) days followed by two-years probation which would require consultation with and quarterly review by LOMAS and the filing of quarterly status reports on pending cases.

ARGUMENT

I. DISMISSAL OF THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING IS WARRANTED BASED UPON EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT AS TO DISCIPLINE WHICH WAS IMPROPERLY PRESENTED TO AND CONSIDERED BY THE REFEREE PRIOR TO A FINDING OF GUILT

At the commencement of the final hearing, Bar Counsel stated to the Referee that disciplinary proceedings are bifurcated and that **if** there is a finding of guilt by the Referee, **then** the Bar proceeds to address discipline (TR 10).

Bar Counsel made several efforts to reiterate this position to the Referee after closing argument and prior to commencing the dispositional phase of the final hearing:

With respect to the bifurcation that just means that you have to make a recommendation or finding that Mr. Jordan is guilty on one or more of the rules charged. Once you make that finding then we can proceed into the disciplinary portion of the case (TR 111).

I mean, you will be making a finding as to whether or not you recommend he be found guilty of the charges **before** we reach the disciplinary portion. (TR 111). [Emphasis added]

According to the rules, the disciplinary portion, as to whether or not there are mitigating factors, aggravating circumstances, whether or not what standards apply is done after you make a determination as to whether or not there's a finding of guilty regarding the rules (TR 112). [Emphasis added]

The only issue -- perhaps I am not articulating it correctly -- is that there has to be some kind of finding by you that he has violated one or more of the rules, **then** we can present the aspects with respect -- (TR 113). [Emphasis added]

The Referee's response to Bar Counsel on the issue of bifurcation is indicative of his strong desire to proceed with argument and evidence as to discipline prior to issuing findings in order to avoid another hearing.

[Referee]: Well, I am simply trying to save myself from having another hearing. If I make a finding -- I mean he's admitted violation of one of the rules. . . .

[Bar Counsel]: You can move forward into discipline phase with respect to that rule. It's only if you make recommendations as to the other rules then obviously will be considered and whatever discipline sanctions you recommend to be imposed.

[Referee]: Yes, ma'am I don't want to have another hearing.

[Bar Counsel]: I appreciate that.

[Referee]: . . . So I would like you to proceed.

[Bar Counsel]: Okay.

[Referee]: Unless you can point me to something in the rule that says I can't do that.

[Bar Counsel]: There has been at least a finding on admission by the respondent with respect to that one rule, so I can I think we are fine. (TR 113-114).

Bifurcation did not occur; a dispositional hearing followed. During the dispositional hearing the Bar introduced into evidence the affidavit of The Florida Bar, Assistant Director of Lawyer Regulation, with attachments, detailing prior discipline (EX 41). This affidavit was supplemented by a referee's report in an unrelated disciplinary proceeding, currently on appeal, wherein the referee recommended a one-month suspension ("non-final report") (EX 42; TR 114, 115,118-119, 121-122).

After introducing evidence as to both prior and proposed discipline, the Bar proceeded with argument as to discipline and supported its position by references to case

law (TR 116-117, 123-128) as well as to the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The Bar argued that the evidence and case law justified a ninety-one (91) suspension with proof of rehabilitation as a disciplinary sanction (124, 128).

The failure to bifurcate the final hearing was improper and contrary to Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(D), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. This rule states, that a referee's report shall include:

a statement of any past disciplinary measures as to the respondent that are on record with the executive director of The Florida Bar or that otherwise become known to the referee through evidence properly admitted by the referee during the course of the proceedings (after a finding of guilt, all evidence of prior disciplinary measures may be offered by bar counsel subject to appropriate objection or explanation by respondent) . . . [Emphasis added]

The practice of bifurcation in disciplinary proceedings is in accordance with the established principle that sentencing follows adjudication and damage follows liability. In the instant case, however, instead of insisting upon bifurcation, as originally espoused by Bar Counsel and in accordance with Rule 3-7.6(k)(1(D), the Bar attempted to accommodate the Referee's desire to dispense with bifurcation by creating an exception to the principle, to wit: if any one of the violations is admitted, bifurcation is not required. The Bar relied upon Respondent's admission as to one of the violations charged, to wit, not responding to the Bar's initial inquiries (TR 75, 109), as justification to proceed with the presentation of evidence and argument as to discipline **prior** to findings of guilt.

Without bifurcation, potentially prejudicial evidence may be introduced which would have a tendency to suggest that a respondent has bad character or propensity to engage in unethical conduct. This prejudicial evidence may improperly influence a referee to issue findings based upon prior bad acts rather than upon careful consideration of the

evidence which is relevant to the case at issue and to weigh such evidence based upon the clear and convincing standard of proof.

The clearly prejudicial effect of permitting evidence and argument as to discipline to precede a finding of guilt is demonstrated in the instant case by the Referee's comments which occurred during the dispositional portion of the hearing, after evidence of prior and proposed discipline was presented by the Bar:

[Referee]: Let me ask you. On this question of whether Mr. Jordan received these orders from the District Court, is it the Bar's position that he didn't get them, or that he got them and he hasn't [sic] honest and forthright about whether he got them or not?

[Bar Counsel]: It's somewhat suspicious, frankly, Your Honor, that he did not change his record Bar address, and seemed to receive all other correspondence and documents in question except two very important ones that needed his immediate follow-up. The Bar would submit perhaps due to sloppy record keeping or inappropriate way of date stamping documents when they came in, they may have been misplaced, therefore not acted upon appropriately, and misplaced. . . . (TR 125) [Emphasis added]

Notwithstanding Bar Counsel's suggestion that inadequate office practices may explain why Respondent was unaware of receipt of correspondence and documents, the Referee made a specific factual finding reflecting a lack of candor (RR 3, No. 15), an offense not charged in the Bar's complaint. The Referee's reference to the non-final report in the lack of candor finding (RR 3, No. 15) leads to a conclusion that this finding was based upon the evidence pertaining to discipline which was improperly admitted prior to findings of guilt. This finding was thereafter considered by the Referee as an aggravating factor (false statement) in support of the Referee's recommendation for a one (1) year suspension (RR 5). Significantly, during argument with regard to aggravating factors, Bar

Counsel, herself, specifically rejected submission of false evidence as an applicable factor (TR 123).

In addition to prejudice, the failure to bifurcate adversely affects the disciplinary system by not providing a respondent with a reasonable opportunity to obtain evidence and prepare argument as to discipline or mitigation. In order to ensure that evidence and argument pertaining to discipline is relevant to the particular findings of the referee, the findings must first be established. Offering a respondent an opportunity to present evidence and argument on discipline **prior** to findings of guilt forces a respondent (and the Bar) to present irrelevant material in an effort to ensure that evidence and argument pertaining to all possible findings are presented, thereby causing delay.

Further, the failure to bifurcate does not afford a respondent a meaningful opportunity to present evidence and argument on mitigation and discipline and is therefore fundamentally unfair. See <u>The Florida Bar v. James W. Peeples</u>, Supreme Court Case No. 83,046, order dated September 15, 1994 wherein disciplinary proceedings were remanded to the referee for further proceedings which included allowing a respondent an opportunity to argue mitigation or discipline (APP A).

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