### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, Veneza COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 86,271
[TFB Case No. 95-30,223(18C)]

v.

ROBERT PAUL JORDAN, II,

Respondent.

## THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

Rose Ann DiGangi
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085
(407) 425-5424
ATTORNEY NO. 745080

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent admitted guilt as to one rule violation. Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(D) allows a referee to consider evidence as to prior discipline once he or she makes a finding of guilt. Obviously, where an accused attorney admits to a violation, the implication is that the referee automatically makes a finding of guilt. The rule does not require a finding as to all the allegations be made before the disciplinary history may be presented. In the respondent's case, there was no procedural error committed that would warrant dismissal.

The introduction of the nonfinal report of referee (B-Ex. 42), if an error, was a harmless one. The referee makes a disciplinary recommendation to this court and that recommendation is presumed to be correct. The responsibility for making the final decision rests with this court, which is already aware of the existence of the case referenced by B-Ex. 42 because it is pending on appeal before this court. Further, it is clear from the referee's report that B-Ex. 42 was only one of many factors he considered in making his recommendation as to discipline. It

was not a determining factor. Moreover, there is no indication that the referee would have recommended a lesser discipline had he not been made aware of B-Ex. 42.

A one year suspension is appropriate in this case. respondent neglected to ensure that his client's appellate rights were preserved. The respondent's lackadaisical attitude disturbing. He apparently saw no need to communicate with his client. Additionally, the respondent apparently saw no need to communicate with the clerk's office when it should have been clear to him that he had not received important court orders. Instead, the respondent placed his professional responsibility to manage his client's case on the shoulders of other persons, namely, his office staff, who apparently he did not adequately supervise, the clerk's office, and his client's parents. Ιt. appears the respondent either cannot or will not accept the responsibility every attorney must assume as an officer of the court.

#### ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE REFEREE'S ACTIONS IN CONSIDERING ARGUMENTS AS TO THE APPROPRIATE LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE WERE APPROPRIATE GIVEN THE FACT THE RESPONDENT HAD ADMITTED GUILT AS TO ONE RULE VIOLATION.

The parties entered into a joint stipulation as to the facts in this case on December 5, 1995, which substantially reiterated the facts contained in the bar's complaint (B-Ex.1). In the joint stipulation and at the trial, the respondent admitted he violated rule 4-8.4(g) for failing to respond to the bar's repeated requests that he make a written reply to the client's allegations of misconduct (T p.p. 74-75). The referee took a considerable amount of testimony and evidence, despite the stipulation as to the facts, and entertained arguments as to mitigation from the respondent to the effect that he has since changed at least some of his office procedures (T p. 109).

Bar counsel advised the referee at the outset that bar discipline cases are normally bifurcated (T p. 10). After the closing arguments, the referee indicated his preference to hold the disciplinary portion that same day and decided that because

the respondent had already admitted guilt as to one of the charged rule violations, it would not be improper to do so (T p.p. 111-114). Pursuant to Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(D), there is no prerequisite that the referee must find a respondent guilty of all the alleged violations, or even a majority of the alleged violations, before the referee may properly consider the respondent's prior disciplinary history. Rather, the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar require only that a referee "make a finding of guilt" before considering evidence concerning a respondent's prior disciplinary history, R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6(k)(1)(D). Consequently, the bar submits that because the respondent admitted violating 4-8.4(g), the referee properly moved on to the disciplinary stage of the proceedings.

The referee afforded the respondent ample opportunity to present mitigating evidence and inquired of the respondent as to his experience in handling appeals (T p.p. 100-101). The respondent testified that he was not very experienced in handling appellate cases (T p. 101), a mitigating factor. The respondent put forth further mitigating factors during the presentation of arguments as to the appropriate level of discipline to be

recommended. He argued that his failure to receive copies of certain court orders could have been due to poor office procedures and, assuming that to be the case, his conduct would have been negligent and not intentional (T p. 128). He also presented arguments to explain the circumstances surrounding his prior discipline (T p.p. 129-131). He presented to the court several mitigating factors from the Florida Standards Imposing Lawyer Sanctions he believed were applicable to his case, namely, lack of experience in handling appellate cases, desire to protect the client's best interests by filing the notice of appeal, and lack of any permanent prejudice to the client (T p.p. 132-135).

Dismissal of these proceedings is not warranted. The referee proceeded to the disciplinary hearing pursuant to the rule, after "a finding of guilt," after the respondent admitted guilt as to one rule violation. The admission of guilt as to the one violation resulted in an automatic finding of guilt by the referee. A referee is not a jury that may be unduly swayed. The referee, who was experienced in handling bar disciplinary proceedings (T p. 111), understood that he had to make a determination as to guilt or innocence before considering the

aggravating factors (T p. 111).

The referee considered the respondent's prior public reprimand for engaging in similar behavior in a case where the respondent failed to respond to an Order to Show Cause which led to the dismissal of an appeal before the Fifth District Court of Appeals. Additionally, the referee based his conclusion that the respondent did not testify truthfully concerning his alleged failure to receive orders from the appellate court (RR-A p. 3) upon the respondent's testimony in these proceedings, as he clearly stated in paragraph 15 of his report.

The referee determined that the respondent lacked credibility because he had no explanation as to why he never received the more important court orders when he seemed to have had no trouble with receiving the less important documents from the clerk's office (T p.p. 62-64, 67, 70-71, 79-80, 96-99). Additionally, the respondent had no explanation as to why he failed to respond to the motion on the rule to show cause (T p. 81) or why he failed to file the initial brief (T p. 82).

respond to the bar's inquiries (T p.p. 82, 102). Finally, the respondent showed a lack of understanding as to appellate law concepts (T p.p. 87, 92-93).

The respondent's reliance on The Florida Bar v. Catalano, 651 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 1995), as authority for dismissing the respondent's case is misplaced. In Catalano, the bar's complaint for minor misconduct was dismissed because the grievance committee that considered the matter had only one voting attorney, not two as is needed pursuant to the disciplinary procedural rules. Because of this, the complaint was dismissed as being fatally flawed from a procedural perspective. In contrast, the respondent's case contains no such procedural error that would warrant a dismissal of these proceedings.

#### POINT II

THE REFEREE'S CONSIDERATION OF EVIDENCE CONCERNING A NONFINAL REPORT OF REFEREE IN A SEPARATE CASE INVOLVING THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT UNDULY PREJUDICIAL.

This court has held that a referee's recommendations as to findings of fact and recommendations of guilt are presumed correct. Specifically, this court, in <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/journal.com/">The Florida Bar v. Benchimol</a>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S226, 227 (Fla. May 23, 1996), has stated:

A referee's findings of fact and recommendations come to us with a presumption of correctness and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 If the findings of the referee are (Fla. 1986). supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgement for that of the referee. Florida Bar v. MacMillan, 600 So. 2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1992). The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to quilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions. Florida Bar v. Miele, 605 So. 2d 866, 868 (Fla. 1992).

If this court has entered an order in the case that was the subject of B-Ex. 42, this court will be aware of this decision in rendering its opinion in this case and give it due consideration

in determining the appropriate level of discipline to impose The bar submits that providing the referee with the nonfinal report of referee, if an error, was a harmless one. fact, it is not uncommon for the same referee to be appointed to hear more than one disciplinary case against an accused attorney. At times, a referee will hear a second case against a respondent before a final order has been issued by this court in the first In these instances, the referee clearly knows the facts and his or her recommendations in the first case considering what those recommendations will be in the second Similarly, in bar cases involving criminal convictions, recommendations are often made where the underlying criminal case is still pending on appeal.

In the present case, the referee was aware that B-Ex. 42 was not a final ruling and that the matter was still pending before this court and admitted it into evidence over the respondent's objection with this understanding (T p. 115). Granted, the nonfinal report of referee did not constitute cumulative misconduct because such cannot exist until after this court issues its ruling, The Florida Bar v. Inglis, 660 So. 2d 697, 700

(Fla. 1995). However, a review of the referee's report shows that the referee considered many factors in arriving at his recommendation for a one year suspension, and the respondent's nonfinal case, (B-Ex. 42), was only one of those factors considered.

Specifically, the referee considered several aggravating factors as noted in 9.22 of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The referee considered the respondent's two prior discipline cases which constitute cumulative misconduct. First, in The Florida Bar v. Jordan, TFB Case No. 92-30,198(18C), the respondent was admonished after entering into an improper business transaction with a client. Second, in The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 617 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1993), the respondent publicly reprimanded for neglecting a legal matter and incompetently representing a client. These cases alone would imposition of a harsher discipline than warrant the respondent's present misconduct, considered in isolation, might otherwise warrant, The Florida Bar v. Bartlett, 509 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1987). "...[C] umulative misconduct can be found when the misconduct occurs near in time to the other offenses, regardless of when the discipline is imposed," The Florida Bar v. Adler, 589 So. 2d 899, 900 (Fla. 1991), citing Florida Bar v. Golden, 566 So. 2d 1286, 1287 (Fla. 1990).

Also in aggravation, the referee considered the pattern of the respondent's misconduct by repeatedly failing to comply with requests that he: (1) return documents to his client; and (2) provide status updates. Moreover, the referee noted respondent's pattern of misconduct in that the respondent had failed to respond to the bar in another disciplinary matter and had similarly also failed to respond to an appellate court's Order to Show Cause. By failing to comply with several ethical obligations, the referee found the respondent triggered, further aggravation, the "multiple offense" factor. Furthermore, the referee noted in additional aggravation that the respondent falsely testified before the referee that he had not received various court orders. The referee's acknowledgment that the respondent had substantial experience in the law as he had practiced law since 1980, was yet another aggravating factor. Finally, an accused attorney's failure to participate in the disciplinary process when he or she is accused of engaging in misconduct, such as the respondent's failure to respond to this matter, calls into serious question the lawyer's fitness to practice law, Bartlett, supra, especially when, as here, one of the allegations is the attorney's failure to communicate with a client and his or her neglect of the client's case. These numerous aggravating factors (RR-A p. 5), combined with the case law, strongly support a suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation as the most appropriate recommendation.

#### POINT III

THE REFERE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A ONE YEAR SUSPENSION IS APPROPRIATE GIVEN THE FACTS AND THE RESPONDENT'S PRIOR DISCIPLINARY HISTORY.

The bar submits the case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support a one year suspension in this case. The respondent's negligent conduct could have resulted in prejudice to Mr. Flowers who, as an inmate, was not in a position to easily supervise the respondent's handling of his case. The client could only rely on what the respondent told him and the respondent was not communicating with him. In fact, the respondent was so out of touch with his client and the case that he was not even aware Mr. Flowers had hired another attorney to handle the appeal (T p. 80).

The respondent admitted he failed to preserve his client's appellate rights because he could not prove he had filed the initial brief with the clerk's office (T p. 73). It was fortunate that the new attorney was able to have the appeal reinstated (T p. 80). "...[A]s a general rule a suspension is appropriate when an attorney is found guilty of misconduct that

causes injury or potential injury to the legal system or to the profession and that misconduct is similar to that for which the attorney has been disciplined in the past," The Florida Bar v. Grigsby, 641 So. 2d 1341, 1343 (Fla. 1994).

In The Florida Bar v. Fussell, 474 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 1985), a lawyer was suspended for one year for neglecting a legal matter and divulging confidential information concerning the representation of a client. The bar filed a three count complaint against Mr. Fussell. In the first count, Mr. Fussell was found to have undertaken the representation of a client in a motion for post conviction relief. He failed to timely file the motion despite the grievance committee investigation conducted after the client complained of the neglect. Mr. Fussell promised the committee he would immediately file the motion but he failed to do so. Only after the client terminated his services did Mr. Fussell file the motion for which the client had already paid him.

In the second count, Mr. Fussell was found to have undertaken the representation of a client in a criminal case.

During the course of the representation, he learned his client had cooperated with the authorities and, without his client's consent, Mr. Fussell divulged this information to a third person. third count, which was based on the attornev's representation of the same client in the same matter as count two, Mr. Fussell promised the client he would file a motion for reduction of sentence but failed to so. The client eventually filed his own motion and terminated the lawyer's services because he had taken no substantial action on the case. The attorney had a prior disciplinary history and substantial experience in the practice of law. In mitigation, the referee considered the number of years that passed between past disciplinary violations, the attorney's health problems, and his character and years of service. Additionally, there was a delay in the proceedings that was not the fault of the accused lawyer.

A lawyer was suspended for one year in The Florida Bar v. Sheldon, 446 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 1984), for neglect and misrepresentation in a two count complaint. In the first count, the attorney received a sum of money from a client and advised her he would deposit it into a bank account he would open for the

estate of the deceased. Mr. Sheldon failed to open the account or deposit the funds in a trust account but he did return the money to the client upon demand. Mr. Sheldon also held two checks made payable to the estate for over one year without depositing or cashing them. In the second count, Mr. Sheldon agreed to draw a new will for the same client after he was unable to locate the ones he had previously drafted for her and her deceased husband but he then failed to do anything further for a period of eight months. Mr. Sheldon finally found the old wills and returned them to her.

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